Statement of the Case

Ricky Eugene Roland was convicted by a jury of one count each of possession of methamphetamine, a severity level 4 drug felony, pursuant to K.S.A. 21-36a06(a); possession of drug paraphernalia, a class A nonperson misdemeanor, pursuant to K.S.A. 21-36a09(b)(2)(e)(3); driving under the influence, a class B nonperson misdemeanor pursuant to K.S.A. 8-1567(d); failure to report an accident with injury or damage to property, a class A nonperson misdemeanor pursuant to K.S.A. 8-1606; and leaving the scene of an accident, a class A nonperson misdemeanor pursuant to K.S.A. 8-1602. He was given a controlling sentence of 11 months in the Department of Corrections with 6 months consecutive jail time and 12 months postrelease. That sentence was suspended in favor of 18 months probation with drug treatment. Mr. Roland now appeals from his convictions and sentence.

Statement of the Issues

- Issue I:** The district court erred by allowing a KBI scientist who did not physically perform the drug testing to testify in violation of Mr. Roland's constitutional confrontation rights.
- Issue II:** The State presented insufficient evidence to convict Mr. Roland of failure to report an accident.
- Issue III:** The State committed reversible misconduct during closing argument.
-
- Issue IV:** The district court erred in instructing the jury that a glass pipe found during the search of Mr. Roland constituted drug paraphernalia.
- Issue V:** The district court committed reversible error when it answered a jury question in violation of Mr. Roland's right to presence, his right to an impartial judge, and his right to a public trial.
- Issue VI:** The district court erred when it ordered a \$1,000 DUI fine without considering the method by which Mr. Roland should pay that fine.

Statement of the Facts

On the night of June 18, 2011, Dana Webber was driving her 2007 Toyota Sienna minivan Southbound down Topeka Boulevard when she spotted a yellow pickup truck driving Northbound on the other side of the road. (R. IX, 173, 176, 177). She looked away for a moment, but when she looked back, the truck was now in her lane, directly in front of her, still traveling Northbound. (R. IX, 177-178). The pickup and Ms. Webber's minivan hit each other. (R. IX, 177-178).

Ms. Webber's airbag went off and her van came to a stop. (R. IX, 177-178). She was taken by ambulance to the hospital and complained of chest pain from the impact with the airbag. (R. IX, 178-179). The truck continued Northbound after the accident, eventually moving back over into the correct lane. (R. IX, 189-190). Several drivers who saw the impact or heard the accident realized that the driver of the truck (identified as a white male) was not stopping. (R. IX, 190-191). As a result both drivers followed the yellow pickup truck. (R. IX, 190-191). One of the drivers following the pickup truck identified the truck as a yellow Chevy Colorado, but was unable to get close enough, due to other traffic on the road, to get to the license plate number. (R. IX, 190-191).

The drivers called 911 and gave dispatch their location as they followed the truck. (R. IX, 192, 195). They eventually followed the truck into a trailer park, but stopped after dispatch told them that they needed to stop following the truck. (R. IX, 195). Officers arrived at the trailer park and began searching for the yellow Chevy Colorado, which reportedly now had damage to the passenger side as a result of the accident. (R. IX, 219-220). While the police were searching the trailer park, dispatch got a phone call from a woman in the same trailer park, reporting that her estranged husband was sitting

outside of her home and that she wanted him removed. (R. IX, 220-222). He was reportedly sitting outside in his yellow pickup truck. (R. IX, 221). The Sheriff's officers responded to the domestic call and found a white male, passed out in the front seat of a yellow Chevy Colorado pickup truck with damage on the passenger side. (R. IX, 222, 224, 226-227). They approached the man and tried to speak with him, but he appeared to be inebriated to the point of being incoherent and unconscious. (R. IX, 227-228).

Officers noted a distinct smell of alcohol on him and that the keys to the truck were in his lap. (R. IX, 238, 258). The officers removed the man, later identified as Ricky Roland, from the truck with great difficulty and had him sit down in the grass because he was unable to stand. (R. IX, 230-231, 254). After attempting to communicate with Mr. Roland unsuccessfully, the officers arrested Mr. Roland for driving under the influence, failure to report an accident, and leaving the scene of an accident. (R. IX, 264).

After his arrest, the officers patted him down, finding a glass smoking pipe in the front pocket of his jeans. (R. IX, 264). Later on, during intake at the jail, a jail officer found a metal canister in Mr. Roland's jeans pocket that contained a crystal-like white substance in a baggie. (R. X, 298-299). That substance was later tested and identified as methamphetamine by the KBI. (R. I, 86; R. X, 290). Based on the incident that night, Mr. Roland was charged with possession of methamphetamine, possession of drug paraphernalia, driving under the influence, failure to report an accident, and leaving the scene of an accident. (R. I, 13-15).

At trial, the State put on evidence of the KBI's lab confirmation that the substance found in Mr. Roland's pocket was methamphetamine through a KBI lab technician. (R. IX, 124-129). However, the technician put on by the State was a supervisor who oversaw

the testing and was not the actually trainee who physically conducted the testing on the alleged methamphetamine. (R. IX, 132-133). Defense counsel objected to the witness and to the admission of the lab report, raising Mr. Roland's confrontation clause rights, but the district court overruled that objection and allowed the testimony as well as the lab report itself into evidence. (R. IX, 134-135; R. X, 277-290).

During trial, Mr. Roland's wife testified, saying that she did not actually know when Mr. Roland pulled up to her home or how long he had been there when she called the police. (R. X, 328-329). She testified that she was notified that he was outside in his truck by a neighbor who noticed him sitting there and called to tell her. (R. X, 329). The police acknowledged that none of them placed their hand on the hood of the truck to determine whether it was still warm from having been recently used. (R. IX, 238, R. X, 319). None of the officers actually saw Mr. Roland drive the truck and the keys were not in the ignition. (R. X, 319). At trial, none of the witnesses of the accident were able to positively identify the driver of the truck from the hit-and-run, other than to say he was a white male, and none of them were able to provide the police with a plate number of the suspect vehicle. (R. X, 353-354, 359; R. IX, 191).

During the instructions conference, the defense objected to the language of the instruction on drug paraphernalia, saying that it was worded in a way that instructed the jury that that the glass pipe necessarily qualified as drug paraphernalia, even though that was a decision that was supposed to be left up the jury. (R. X, 380-382). The district court overruled that objection and instructed the jury that drug paraphernalia included glass smoking pipes. (R. X, 382-388).

During closing arguments, the prosecutor told the jury that they could assume that because Ms. Webber testified that her minivan was “totaled,” that the property loss (for the purpose of the failure to report an accident charge) was more than \$1,000. (R. X, 422).

Prior to a verdict, the jury asked a question regarding the driving under the influence charge and circumstantial evidence, which was responded to by the district court in writing rather than in open court. (R. X, 433-435). The jury ultimately convicted Mr. Roland of all five charges. (R. X, 436-437).

Mr. Roland was given a controlling sentence of 11 months in the Department of Corrections, with 6 months in the county jail run consecutive to that prison sentence with 12 months postrelease. (R. II, 159-171). That sentence was suspended in favor of 18 months probation with drug treatment after serving a mandatory 45 day jail sentence. (R. II, 159-171). Mr. Roland was also ordered to pay a \$1,000 DUI fine, but was not given any options on how he might pay that fine. (R. XI, 15). Mr. Roland filed a timely appeal from his convictions and sentence. (R. II, 172).

Arguments and Authority

Issue I: The district court erred by allowing a KBI scientist who did not physically perform the drug testing to testify in violation of Mr. Roland’s constitutional confrontation rights.

Introduction and Preservation

At trial, the only evidence that the substance found in Mr. Roland’s pocket during the jail search was methamphetamine was the KBI lab report. That report was admitted into evidence based upon the testimony of a KBI forensic scientist. However, during questioning, it became clear that the KBI scientist who was endorsed and called as a

witness by the State was not the actual scientist who physically performed the tests on the methamphetamine, but was instead a supervisor who oversaw the testing and approved of the findings in the report. The actual testing on the methamphetamine in this case was conducted by a trainee under the witness' supervision.

Mr. Roland's counsel objected to the admission of the lab report at trial, arguing that because the trainee who physically conducted the tests was not at trial and available for cross-examination, Mr. Roland's Confrontation clause rights had been violated. (R. IX, 134-135). After a lengthy examination of the witness, the trial court ultimately concluded that the supervising scientist, who had been present and watching all of the testing conducted by the trainee, was sufficient to satisfy Mr. Roland's confrontation clause rights and admitted the lab report over defense counsel's objection. (R. X, 290).

Standard of Review

The appellate courts employ an unlimited standard of review when addressing issues pertaining to the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. *State v. Noah*, 284 Kan. 608, 612, 162 P.3d 799 (2007). Any issue of statutory interpretation is likewise subject to de novo review. *State v. Ortega-Cadelan*, 287 Kan. 157, 164, 194 P.3d 1195 (2008); *State v. Bryan*, 281 Kan. 157, 159, 130 P.3d 85 (2006).

Argument

The Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." That guarantee applies to criminal defendants in both federal and state prosecutions. See *Pointer v. Texas*, 380 U.S.

400, 406, 85 S.Ct. 1065, 13 L.Ed.2d 923 (1965) (Sixth Amendment applicable to states via Fourteenth Amendment).

In a landmark decision, *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004), the United States Supreme Court significantly overhauled the application of the Confrontation Clause. *Crawford* clarified that a witness' testimony against a defendant is inadmissible unless the witness appears at trial or, if the testimonial witness is unavailable to testify at trial, the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. *Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 59, 124 S.Ct. 1354; see *Melendez–Diaz v. Massachusetts* 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 2531, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009).

Subsequently, the United States Supreme Court specifically found that a laboratory analyst's certificate, offered to prove the substance which defendant had possessed was cocaine, fell within the “core class of testimonial statements” subject to the Confrontation Clause. *Melendez–Diaz v. Massachusetts*, 129 S.Ct. at 2532. Based on that decision, the Kansas Supreme Court concluded that the forensic examiner reports are testimonial statements for the purposes of the Confrontation clause. See *State v. Leshay*, 289 Kan. 546, 549, 213 P.3d 1071 (2009).

Clearly, based on these cases, Mr. Roland had a Sixth Amendment right to confront the lab analyst who actually conducted the testing and prepared the report that indicating that the substance in his pocket was methamphetamine. The lab report was clearly testimonial in nature and there was no showing by the State that the trainee (the actual analyst who conducted the testing) was unavailable. Because the State failed to meet the threshold requirement for providing as a witness someone other than the person who actually conducted the testing (i.e., because they failed to show that the trainee was

unavailable for trial), the district court's decision to admit the testimony and the lab report should be overruled, Mr. Roland's convictions reversed, and his case remanded for a new trial.

However, even if this Court moves beyond the State's failure to show that the key witness was unavailable, this issue still merits reversal. At trial, the crux of the State's argument for why the supervisor who oversaw the testing and was conducting the training of the trainee was a sufficient witness was basically because that witness' testimony was as good as the trainee's testimony, sufficient to satisfy Mr. Roland's confrontation rights. But the KBI analyst who testified wasn't good enough to satisfy Mr. Roland's right to confront the witnesses against him. Although that supervisor testified that she closely monitored the trainee's performance at every step along the way and that she agreed with the lab report conclusions independent of the trainee's conclusions drawn from the testing, she still was not the person who actually physically conducted the testing. Although the supervisor can insist on the stand that all the proper procedures and testing protocols were followed, that still does not replace the need to have the actual person who conducted the tests there to confirm that fact.

Furthermore, there was some serious questions about what would happen if the phone would ring in the laboratory during the testing process. (R. IX, 148, 150-151). The supervisor testified that when the phone rang, the trainee was expected to stop all work and handling of the drug while the supervisor stepped away to answer the phone. (R. IX, 150-151). While the supervisor could testify that that was what was *supposed* to happen, the actual trainee who conducted the testing still needed to be called to ensure that the trainee followed that procedure and did not actually handle the substance or conduct part

of the testing while not being directly supervised. The supervisor testified that she did not recall a time during the testing of this specific substance that she left to answer the phone or use the restroom. (R. IX, 133). However, she also admitted that because of the number of samples they work on, if she did not have the lab report, she would not remember this specific sample from any other sample she's tested. (R. IX, 152-153). Simply because there are rules that should be followed does not mean that the rules were *actually* followed. That is why it is imperative that a defendant have the ability to confront the *actual* person who conducted the test, not just someone familiar with the process or who watched some or most of the testing being conducted. The State failed to satisfy Mr. Roland's constitutional right to confront the witnesses against him when it failed to provide the actual trainee for cross-examination who conducted the testing in this case.

The United States Supreme Court recently considered the idea of "surrogate testimony" in the case of *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, ___ U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 180 L.Ed 2d 610 (2011). In that case, a lab analyst who was on unpaid leave was replaced at trial by another analyst fully familiar with the testing process who essentially reviewed and confirmed the certification provided on the lab report by the other lab analyst. In reviewing the New Mexico Supreme Court's finding that this surrogate testimony was allowable under the Confrontation Clause, the United States Supreme Court said that the New Mexico Supreme Court's analysis of the issue raised "red flags." The Supreme Court concluded that surrogate testimony of the kind the witness was equipped to give could not convey what the actual analyst who conducted the certification knew or observed. 131 S.Ct. at 2714-2715.

As the United States Supreme Court said in *Bullcoming*:

More fundamentally, as this Court stressed in *Crawford*, “[t]he text of the Sixth Amendment does not suggest any open-ended exceptions from the confrontation requirement to be developed by the courts.” 541 U.S., at 54, 124 S.Ct. 1354. Nor is it “the role of courts to extrapolate from the words of the [Confrontation Clause] to the values behind it, and then to enforce its guarantees only to the extent they serve (in the courts' views) those underlying values.” *Giles v. California*, 554 U.S. 353, 375, 128 S.Ct. 2678, 171 L.Ed.2d 488 (2008). Accordingly, the Clause does not tolerate dispensing with confrontation simply because the court believes that questioning one witness about another's testimonial statements provides a fair enough opportunity for cross-examination.

Bullcoming, 131 S.Ct. at 2716.

Like in *Bullcoming*, the surrogate testimony of the kind that the supervisor in this case was equipped to give could not convey what the trainee potentially knew or observed about the actual testing in this case. Regardless of how closely the supervisor oversaw the trainee in this case, that observation does not justify dispensing with Mr. Roland's confrontation rights simply because the supervisor's statements regarding the trainee's work provide a “fair enough” opportunity for cross-examination.

In *State v. Anderson*, 287 Kan. 325, 197 P.3d 409 (2008), our Supreme Court set out the standard for evaluating a violation of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment:

Violation of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution is subject to analysis under the federal harmless error rule. Under that rule, an error may not be held to be harmless unless the appellate court is willing to declare beyond a reasonable doubt that the error had little, if any, likelihood of having changed the result of the trial. Whether such error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factors, all readily accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case.

Anderson, 287 Kan. 325, Syl. ¶ 5.

In this case, the importance of the KBI analyst and the details of the testing that was done was imperative to the drug possession charge and substantially related to the drug paraphernalia charge. Specifically, there was a significant problem with the relative weight of the drugs. (R. IX, 134; R. X, 317). The drugs weighed by the police were twice as heavy as the drugs ultimately tested by the KBI lab. (R. IX, 134; R. X, 317).

Although the State attempted to explain away the difference by making the point that the officers apparently weighed the drugs inside the baggie, while the lab weighed the drugs without the baggie, the jury still would have been left with serious questions regarding just how much a difference the absence of the baggie would have caused, given that there was no evidence presented by the State as to how much the baggie weighed without the drugs. Had the defense also been able to effectively cross examine the actual lab analyst who tested the drugs, instead of the supervisor who oversaw the testing, there is a very real possibility that the jury would have also have serious questions about the lab results themselves. If the jury was in doubt about the integrity of the drugs as well as the testing methodology of the lab, the jury may very well have negated the importance of the lab finding that the drug constituted methamphetamine.

Furthermore, the lab report itself was the only evidence presented by the State to support the finding that the drugs were actually methamphetamine. Even the lab analyst who testified did not technically testify to the conclusion that the drugs were actually methamphetamine. That came entirely from the report itself. Consequently, it was not duplicative evidence. It was the only evidence on that particular element of the crime of possession of methamphetamine. Additionally, the fact that the substance was actually

methamphetamine played a significant role in the jury's assessment of whether the glass pipe found in Mr. Roland's pocket constituted drug paraphernalia. A glass pipe with no other drugs found is much less likely to be considered "drug paraphernalia" than one located in the same pocket as methamphetamine.

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