No. 13-109624-A

#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS

STATE OF KANSAS Plaintiff-Appellee

V.

RICKY EUGENE ROLAND Defendant-Appellant

### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF SHAWNEE COUNTY, KANSAS HONORABLE CHERYL KINGFISHER, JUDGE DISTRICT COURT CASE NO. 11-CR-1171

**Approved** 

APR 30 2014

Attorney General of Kansas BYNC S. Ct. Rule 6.10 Chadwick J. Taylor, #19591 District Attorney Third Judicial District Shawnee County Courthouse 200 S.E. 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 214 Topeka, Kansas 66603 (785) 251-4330, Ext. 4330 (785) 291-4909 FAX sncoda@snco.us

Lead Attorney for Plaintiff- Appellee

##

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

#### Instruction No. 13

"Drug paraphernalia" means all equipment, and materials of any kind which are used or primarily intended or designed for use in containing, concealing, injecting, ingesting, inhaling, or otherwise introducing into the human body a controlled substance.

Drug paraphernalia includes glass pipes. (R. II, 138-40.)

Instruction 12 makes clear that it is up to the jury to determine whether the item claimed by the State to be drug paraphernalia is drug paraphernalia under the facts of the case. Instruction 12 provided the jury with factors to consider when determining whether an object constitutes drug paraphernalia under the law. These factors, combined with Instruction 13 informed the jury that it must determine whether the glass pipe met the definition of drug paraphernalia.

Roland relies on *State v. Brice*, 276 Kan. 758, 80 P.3d 1113 (2003), as support for his argument. In *Brice*, the defendant shot the victim in the thigh, resulting in a "through and through injury" and was ultimately convicted of aggravated battery. Brice appealed his conviction, arguing that the district court erred in instructing the jury that "great bodily harm" means a "through and through bullet wound." 276 Kan. at 760. Brice claimed the instruction infringed on his right to have every element of the crime determined by the jury, including whether the victim's injury constituted "great bodily harm." Our Supreme Court agreed, and held that the instruction told the jury that the State had proven the "great bodily harm" element of aggravated battery. 276 Kan. at 767-74.

Roland argues that his case is analogous with *Brice*. However, this case is distinguishable from the circumstances in *Brice*. Unlike the instruction in *Brice*, Instruction 13 did not expressly define a glass pipe as being drug paraphernalia on its face. Instruction 13 is consistent with PIK 3d. 67.40, which specifically states that the district court should narrowly tailor the definition and identify only the specific items of paraphernalia that are supported by the evidence. It is not mandatory that district courts use PIK instructions, although it is strongly advised. *State v. Mitchell*, 269 Kan. 349, 355–56, 7 P.3d 1135 (2000). As our Supreme Court has stated:

The pattern jury instructions for Kansas (PIK) have been developed by a knowledgeable committee to bring accuracy, clarity, and uniformity to jury instructions. They should be the starting point in the preparation of any set of jury instructions. If the particular facts in a given case require modification of the applicable pattern instruction or the addition of some instruction not included in PIK, the trial court should not hesitate to make such modification or addition. However, absent such need, PIK instructions and recommendations should be followed. *State v. Johnson*, 255 Kan. 252, Syl. ¶ 3, 874 P.2d 623 (1994).

The instruction listed the item that could be considered drug paraphernalia, the glass pipe. The inclusion of the last sentence of the instruction was necessary to inform the jury as to the object the State claimed was drug paraphernalia. This sentence did not improperly relieve the State from its burden to prove each element of the crime. The instruction did not unequivocally state that a glass pipe constitutes "drug paraphernalia," but that it could constitute drug paraphernalia if it met the definition.

There are several recent unpublished opinions by other panels of this court that are directly on point and have rejected this same argument. In *State v. Keel*, No. 106,096, 2012 WL 4373012 (Kan.App. 2012) (unpublished opinion), *petition for review granted* October 1, 2013, the defendant was charged with possession of drug paraphernalia. A panel of this court held that it was not error for the trial court to give the jury instruction as outlined by PIK 67.40. The panel found that the instruction

did not literally and expressly state that the objects found in Keel's residence were drug paraphernalia. Rather, the instruction merely listed specific objects that could constitute drug paraphernalia. Such language was necessary to inform the jury which objects the State claimed to be drug paraphernalia. 2012 WL 4373012 at \*5.

The panel further held that the instruction "neither improperly relieved the State of its burden to prove a necessary element of the crime nor invaded the province of the jury to determine guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." 2012 WL 4373012 at \*11-12; see also State v. Bowser, No. 107,692, 2013 WL 1010579 (Kan. App. 2013) (unpublished opinion) (holding unlike the instruction in *Brice*, the instruction merely listed objects that could be considered drug paraphernalia and the language was necessary to inform the jury which objects the State claimed were drug paraphernalia).

Another panel of this court used the same rationale to determine that the instruction was not clearly erroneous in *State v. Sisson*, No. 106,580, 2013 WL 1688933 (Kan.App. 2013) (unpublished opinion), *petition for review granted* October 1, 2013. In *Sisson*, the panel held that the jury instructions did not literally and expressly state that the scale was drug paraphernalia, were necessary for the jury to determine which object the State claimed to be drug paraphernalia, and necessitated the jury to consider a host of factors when determining whether the scale was drug paraphernalia rather than to convict Sisson simply because he possessed a scale. 2013 WL 1688933 at \*9; *see also State v. Sophaphone*, No. 102,472, 2010 WL 3324403, \*1-3 (Kan.App. 2010) (unpublished opinion) (no clear error when jury instructed that the charge of drug paraphernalia required the State to prove "[t]hat the defendant knowingly possessed with intent to use drug paraphernalia, to-wit: a glass pipe for inhaling methamphetamine in the body").

Based on the same rationale, Instruction 13 was legally and factually appropriate and was not given in error in this case. Therefore, Roland's Fifth and Sixth Amendment rights were not violated and his conviction for drug paraphernalia should stand.

### Harmless Error

Although *Brice* reversed and remanded without engaging in the harmless error analysis, the State contends that the harmless error analysis as stated in *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87, S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705, *reh. denied* 386 U.S. 987, 87 S.Ct. 1283, 18 L.Ed.2d 241 (1967), is applicable. Under the *Chapman* harmless error standard: "error may be declared harmless where the party benefitting from the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of will not or did not affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record, i.e., where there is no reasonable

possibility that the error contributed to the verdict." *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, Syl. ¶ 6, 256 P.3d 801 (2011), *cert. denied* 132 S.Ct. 1594 (2012).

The United States Supreme Court has held that the failure to submit an element of the crime to the jury was not structural error and subject to harmless error review. *Neder* v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827, 144 L.Ed.2d 35 (1999); see also State v. Daniels, 278 Kan. 53, 91 P.3d 1147 (2004). In Neder, the defendant was convicted of filing false federal income tax returns, mail fraud, wire fraud, and bank fraud. The trial court determined that the evidence established the element of materiality without regard to the tax and bank fraud charges and found it was not a question for the jury. The United States Supreme Court affirmed, holding that the trial court's error in failing to submit the materiality element of the tax offense was harmless error. 527 U.S. at 4. Neder further considered whether a jury instruction that omits an element of the offense falls within that category of fundamental constitutional errors that require automatic reversal. The court noted that an erroneous jury instruction which omits an element of the offense "differs markedly" from other errors such as a biased trial judge, the denial of self-representation, and the denial of a public trial, all of which are structural errors. 527 U.S. at 8.

If this court finds that the instruction in this case took one element of the offense of possession of drug paraphernalia out of the jury's province, then it is similar to omitting an element of the offense, and the harmless error analysis should apply. Not having the jury find one element of an offense can be harmless error, contrary to any conclusion that can be read in *Brice*. Here, there was overwhelming evidence presented that the glass pipe was drug paraphernalia. The pipe was found in Roland's front right

pocket, where a metal pill box containing methamphetamine was also found. (R. IX, 264-65, 267; R. X, 341-42, 344, 348-49.) Custenborder testified that based on his training and experience in narcotics, the glass pipe was a pipe used to smoke methamphetamine. (R. IX, 266.) Custenborder stated the pipe had a bowl on the end where a person puts the drug itself and then use a lighter to smoke the drug. The pipe also had burn marks on the bowl portion of it. (R. IX, 266.) Based on this evidence, there is no real possibility that the jury would have rendered a different verdict had the last sentence of Instruction 13 been omitted. Thus, even if it was error to include this sentence in the instruction, it was harmless error.

# V. The district court did not commit reversible error in giving a written answer to the jury's question.

Roland also argues that when the district court responded to the jury's question in writing it violated the statutory procedure set out in K.S.A. 22-3420(3), as well as his constitutional rights to be present at all critical stages of his trial, to an impartial judge, and to a public trial. During deliberations the jury asked the following question to the district court, "[c]oncerning Count 3, define circumstantial evidence, and can or how can we use it to determine guilt or innocence?" (R. X, 433.) Roland was present in the open courtroom while the parties discussed the question and the possible response the district court should provide. (R. X, 435.) Roland's attorney suggested the jury should be referred to instruction number two, which refers to what the jury should consider in its fact finding. (R. X, 434.) The district court responded by writing the following answer "The Court can only instruct that you consider each of the instructions already given in answering this question" and gave the answer to the jury. (R. X, 435.) Roland did not

object to the district court's procedure of responding to the jury in writing. (R. X, 433-35.)

#### Preservation

Roland raises this argument for the first time on appeal. The State contends that this court should not address this issue as it was not properly preserved for review.

Generally, issues not raised before the district court, even issues affecting constitutional rights, cannot be raised on appeal. *State v. Coman*, 294 Kan. 84, 89, 273 P.3d 701 (2012). There are exceptions to this general rule, but, Roland fails to argue that any of the exceptions are applicable in this case. However, as noted by Roland, our Supreme Court has addressed this issue for the first time on appeal. *See State v. Bell*, 266 Kan. 896, 918-20, 975 P.2d 239, *cert. denied*, 528 U.S. 905 (1999); *State v. Womelsdorf*, 47 Kan.App.2d 307, 320, 274 P.3d 622 (2012), *rev. denied* 297 Kan. \_\_\_\_ (2013). Roland also mentions that the right to a public trial is a constitutional right that has been considered on appeal without a contemporaneous objection at trial.

The State contends that this issue is similar to the issue of whether a district court followed the proper statutory procedure in polling the jury. In *State v. Holt*, 285 Kan. 760, 175 P.3d 239 (2008), the Kansas Supreme Court refused to consider whether the manner in which the jury was polled, which allegedly violated the statute, violated the defendant's right to an impartial and unanimous jury. In denying the defendant's request to reach the issue "for the ends of justice," the Court noted that the right to a unanimous jury and the procedures laid out in K.S.A. 22-3421 were statutory rights, not constitutional rights. 285 Kan. at 766-67, 769-70. The Court then refused to address the issue because there was no showing that the jury's verdict actually harmed him.

Here, Roland argues this court should consider the argument as it has previously been raised for the first time on appeal. However, like in Holt a district court's procedure in responding to a jury question is not a constitutional right, but a statutory right.

Moreover, Roland has failed to show that the district court's procedure in responding to the jury question in writing actually harmed him. This case is a clear example of why the rule requiring the issue to be preserved and raised before the district court exists. This court simply does not have the facts this court needs to review the issue. Here, had an objection been raised, there is no question that any issue regarding the procedure in which the district court answered the jury's question would have been appropriately addressed at that time. However, in the event this court decides to address the issue, the statutory and constitutional errors claimed by Roland do not require reversal.

#### Standard of Review

Resolution of this issue requires statutory and constitutional interpretation, which are questions of law over which this court has unlimited review. *State v. Womelsdorf*, 47 Kan.App.2d 307, 320, 274 P.3d 622 (2012), *rev. denied* 297 Kan. \_\_\_ (2013).

#### Analysis

Roland argues that the district court's procedure in responding to the jury's question in writing violated K.S.A. 22-3420(3) and his right to be present at every critical stage of the trial. A defendant has a constitutional and statutory right to be present at every stage of trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI; K.S.A. 22-3405. K.S.A. 22-3420(3) states:

After the jury has retired for deliberation, if they desire to be informed as to any part of the law or evidence arising in the case, they may request the officer to conduct them to the court, where the information on the point of the law shall be given, or the evidence shall be read or exhibited to them in the presence of the defendant, unless he voluntarily absents himself, and his counsel and after notice to the prosecuting attorney.

Our Supreme Court has interpreted this statute to mean that any question from the jury concerning law or evidence pertaining to the case must be answered in open court in the defendant's presence unless the defendant is voluntarily absent. *State v. King*, 297 Kan. 955, 305 P.3d 641 (2013). However, *King* does not explicitly hold that a district court's procedure in giving the jury a written answer to their question is error; it does appear to implicitly make this finding.

That being said, panels of this court have interpreted the district court's failure to answer the jury's question in open court as error. However, the error is subject to the harmless error standard stated in *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87, S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705, *reh. denied* 386 U.S. 987, 87 S.Ct. 1283, 18 L.Ed.2d 241 (1967). Under the *Chapman* harmless error standard:

The error may be declared harmless where the party benefitting from the error proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of will not or did not affect the outcome of the trial in light of the entire record, *i.e.*, where there is no reasonable possibility that the error contributed to the verdict. *State v. Ward*, 292 Kan. 541, 256 P.3d 801 (2011), *cert. denied* 132 S.Ct. 1594 (2012).

The State contends that the error in the district court's procedure of giving the jury a written answer to the question was harmless error in this case because there is no reasonable possibility that the written response could have affected the jury's verdict. The jury's question was a straightforward question of law and the district court correctly answered it. The district court did not state the law or provide any additional information that could have changed the jury's verdict. The response simply referred the jury back to the jury instructions that had been read to them in open court in the presence of Roland. The jury's presence in the courtroom would not have changed the outcome of the trial.

Therefore, this court should conclude that the State has met its burden and find that the error was harmless in this case.

Roland also argues that providing the jury with a written response to a question constitutes a structural error because it denies a defendant both the right to an impartial judge and the right to a public trial. The lack of an impartial judge and a violation of a defendant's right to a public trial are not subject to the harmless error analysis. *See Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 308, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991); *Boldridge v. State*, 289 Kan. 618, 627-28, 215 P.3d 585 (2009); *Waller v. Georgia*, 467 U.S. 39, 104 S.Ct. 2210, 81 L.Ed.2d 31 (1984).

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